IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 69,559

SCOTT RANDALL STANLICK, et al.,	FILED
Petitioners,	SID J. WHITE
vs.	DEC 1 1986
DONALD KAPLAN, et al.,	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
Respondents.	By Deputy Clark
	1

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WAGNER, CUNNINGHAM, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A. 708 Jackson Street Tampa, Florida 33602 -and-PODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A. Suite 800, City National Bank Building 25 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800

0√1 32

•

BY: JOEL S. PERWIN

IV.	ARGUMENT
	THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE STANLICKS' CLAIM AGAINST THE KAPLANS IS BARRED BY \$440.11(1), FLA. STAT. (1981)
v.	CONCLUSION
VI.	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

PAGE

PAGE

A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157 (1931)6
Adams v. Brickell Townhouse, Inc., 388 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980)
Barnes ν. Chrysler Corp., 65 F. Supp. 806 (N.D. III. 1946)24
Blount v. State, 102 Fla. 1100, 138 So. 2 (1931)10
Bridges v. Speer, 79 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1955)
Brown v. Winn-Dixie Montgomery, Inc., 469 So.2d 155 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (per curiam)
Carraway v. Revell, 116 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1959)
Chorak v. Naughton, 409 So.2d 35 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981)
City of Hialeah v. State, 183 So. 745 (Fla. 1938)9
City of Pensacola v. Capital Realty Holding Co., 417 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)9
Dania Jai-Alai Palace, Inc. v. Sykes, 450 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 1984)
Dessert v. Electric Mutual Liability Ins. Co., 392 So.2d 340 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 399 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 1981)13-14
Ellis v. Brown, 77 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1955)9
Estupinan v. Cleanerama Drive-In Cleaners, Inc., 38 A.D.2d 353, 329 N.Y.S.2d 448 (1972)24
Fidelity & Casualty Co. of New York v. Bedingfield, 60 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1952)

Fisher v. Shenandoah General Construction Co., 472 So.2d 871 (Fla. 4th DCA),
review granted, 10 FLW 1751 (Fla. 1985)
Frantz v. McBee Co., 77 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1955)
Garcia v. Gusmack Restaurant Corp., 150 N.Y.S.2d 232 (1954)
Givens v. Savona Manufacturing Co., 196 N.C. 377, 145 S.E. 681 (1928)9
Glaab v. Caudill, 236 So.2d 180 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1970)
Gulfstream Land & Development Corp. v. Wilkerson, 420 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1982)
Heskett v. Fisher Laundry & Cleaners Co., 217 Ark. 350, 230 S.W.2d 28 (1950)24
Iglesia v. Floran, 394 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1981)
In Re Firestone, 26 Bankr. 706 (S.D. Fla. 1982)
Jones Varnum & Co. v. Townsend, 23 Fla. 355, 2 So. 612 (1887)9
Kruse v. Schieve, 61 Wis. 421, 213 N.W.2d 64 (1973)14
Lawton v. Alpine Engineered Products, Inc., 476 So.2d 233 (Fla. 4th DCA) (per curiam), review granted, 10 FLW 2042 (Fla. 1985)24
Lupovici v. Hunzinger Construction Co., 79 Wis.2d 491, 255 N.W.2d 599 (1977)14
McCarrol v. Reagan, 396 So.2d 239 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981)
Meyer v. Graphic Arts International Union Local No. 63-A, 63-B,
88 Cal. App.3d 176, 151 Cal. Rptr. 597 (1979)

Northern Pacific R. Co. v. Herbert, 116 U.S. 642, 6 S. Ct. 590, 29 L. Ed.2d 755 (1886)
Orlovsky v. Solid Surf, Inc., 405 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)
Ortman v. Jensen & Johnson, Inc, 66 Wis.2d 508, 225 N.W.2d 635 (1975)14
Revere v. Shell Chemical Inc., 376 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979)
Sand Key Associates v. Board of Trustees, 458 So.2d 369 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984)9
Schwartz v. Zippy Mart, Inc., 470 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (per curiam)24
Seaboard Coast Line R. Co. v. Smith, 359 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1978) (per curiam)23
Smith v. Rich's, Inc., 104 Ga. App. 883, 123 S.E.2d 316 (1961)24
State v. Egan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
Stewart v. McClellan's Stores Co., 194 S.C. 50, 9 S.E.2d 34 (1940)24
Streeter v. Sullivan, Case No. 86,6971, 4, 7, 10, 17, 19
Sullivan v. Streeter, 485 So.2d 893 (Fla. 4th DCA), review granted (Fla. 1986)
Sunshine State News Co. v. State, 121 So.2d 705 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1960)10
Weller v. Reitz, 419 So.2d 739 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982)
West v. Jessop, 339 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976)11, 13-14, 16-17, 22-23
Wright v. McCord, 8 Div. 188, 88 So. 150 (Ala. 1920)

LAW OFFICES, PODHURST ORSECK PARKS JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW & OLIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE BOO, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780

PAGE

PAGE

Zurich Ins. Co. v. Scofi, 366 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 2nd DCA), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1979)14-15

AUTHORITIES

Section §440.11, Fla. Stat. (1981)
2A Larson Workman's Compensation Law §68.21, at 13-28 (1982)

I STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case presents a single question--whether the workers' compensation statute, S440.11(1), Fla. Stat. (1981)--which incorporates a 1978 amendment to that sub-section-deprived the trial court of jurisdiction to entertain a worker's claim against the two major owners and officers of his corporate employer, for gross negligence and wanton recklessness causing serious personal injury. A similar question is presently before the Court in *Streeter v. Sullivan*, Case No. 86,697, which has been briefed and is awaiting oral argument. $\frac{1}{2}$

The complaint was brought by Scott Stanlick and his wife against Kaplan Industries, Inc., and the respondents, Donald and John Kaplan (hereinafter "the Kaplans") (A. 1). It alleged that Stanlick drove a truck for Kaplan Industries, and while engaged in that occupation "fell asleep at the wheel of the truck and was involved in a serious collision which resulted in the Plaintiff becoming permanently and totally disabled from his occupation ..." (id.). For our purposes, it is vital to note that the Stanlicks' complaint did not simply charge Donald and John Kaplan with the negligent failure to provide a safe working environment. To the contrary, it charged them with having affirmatively and intentionally created an unsafe working environment, in direct violation of applicable federal regulations. The complaint charged (A. 2):

> (6) That such accident and injury occurred as the direct and proximate result of the Plaintiff being required to work excessively long hours in direct violation of Federal law

 $[\]frac{1}{}$ The respondents in the instant case have filed a motion to consolidate the instant proceeding with the *Streeter* case, because both cases "present the same issue of statutory interpretation and should be considered together." The undersigned counsel has agreed to this motion, because it seems to make sense that the two cases should be argued and considered together. That does not mean, however, that both cases necessarily should be resolved in the same way. To the contrary, as we will demonstrate, the instant case is significantly more favorable to the plaintiff's position than is *Streeter*, in light of the significant allegations of affirmative wanton and reckless conduct in the instant case. See discussion infra.

regarding the times when he was allowed to drive trucks over the road under the rules of the Interstate Commerce Commission.

(7) That the Defendants, DONALD KAPLAN and JOHN KAPLAN, for a number of months prior to the above incident willfully, intentionally and regularly required their drivers for KAPLAN INDUSTRIES, INC. to operate the trucks in violation of Federal law, required the drivers to falsify their driving time, required the drivers to drive when they were tired and ill, and requiring them thus to drive heavy over-the-road trucks under extremely dangerous circumstances.

Thus, the complaint charged the Kaplans with having affirmatively made the drivers' jobs more dangerous, in violation of federal law.

In addition, the complaint charged that the defendants had acted affirmatively to enforce their reckless and unlawful policy, despite actual knowledge that its enforcement would pose a danger to Scott Stanlick in the particular instance in which that policy was imposed upon him (A. 2):

> (8) That at the time the Plaintiff fell asleep, the Defendants had been notified and were well aware that the Plaintiff had operated the truck far in excess of the amount of time allowed by law; that Defendants knew that Plaintiff had driven through extremely bad weather on the return trip to Florida but insisted that Plaintiff drive the load directly to Miami and Defendants expected Plaintiff to do so within a time frame that made it impossible to accomplish without driving in excess of the amount of time allowed by law; and that the Plaintiff knew that if he did not do so he would lose his job and the Plaintiff being required to support his family and himself and fearful of losing his job if he did not comply, attempted to drive such truck but, nevertheless, fell asleep at the wheel and crashed causing the serious injuries herein involved.

Thus, the complaint alleged that the Kaplans had acted affirmatively in creating a reckless policy in willful violation of the law; and had acted affirmatively in enforcing that policy against Scott Stanlick despite actual knowledge of the danger. It is not surprising, therefore, that the complaint charged the Kaplans with "wilfull and wanton misconduct which directly and proximately caused the plaintiff's injury," and with "wilfully and intentionally violat[ing] such laws for personal and corporate economic self-

gain" (A. 3). On the basis of the factual allegations of the complaint, there can be little question that a reasonable jury might agree with the Stanlicks' charge of wanton and reckless misconduct. Indeed, it is vital to note that the Kaplans conceded this point in their Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the district court, by acknowledging that the only issue for the court was "whether the immunity granted employers by Florida's Workers' Compensation Act bars an action by an employee against a corporate officer for injuries resulting from the officer's gross negligence in failing to provide a safe place to work." In short, the Kaplans have acknowledged that the Stanlicks' complaint is facially sufficient to make out a case of gross negligence. On the basis of the foregoing, that is an understatement. $\frac{2}{}$

The trial court granted Kaplan Industries' motion to dismiss, but denied the Kaplans' (A. 5). The Kaplans filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Second District, which granted the petition to prohibit the trial court from exercising jurisdiction over the Stanlicks' claim against the Kaplans (A. 6-12). The district court concluded that the provisions of \$440.11(1) before the 1978 amendment did not permit an action against a corporate officer or supervisor even for wanton recklessness or gross negligence, and that the 1978 amendment did not change this pre-existing state of the law. But the district court acknowledged that this conclusion conflicts with the fourth district's decision in *Sullivan v. Streeter*, 485 So.2d 893 (Fla. 4th DCA), review granted (Fla. 1986), and thus certified the conflict to this Court (A. 12).

As we have noted, the briefs in Sullivan, including an amicus brief, have all been filed, and in that light we will attempt in the following pages to avoid a mere repetition

 $[\]frac{2}{5}$ See generally Carraway v. Revell, 116 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1959); Bridges v. Speer, 79 So.2d 679, 682 (Fla. 1955); Sullivan v. Streeter, 485 So.2d 893, 895 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Brown v. Winn-Dixie Montgomery, Inc., 469 So.2d 155, 159 n.4 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (per curiam); Glaab v. Caudill, 236 So.2d 180, 185 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1970). Compare Weller v. Reitz, 419 So.2d 739, 741 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

of arguments. Where appropriate, we will reference passages from the *Streeter* briefs, and will primarily devote our efforts to developing positions which were not raised in those briefs.

II ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE STANLICKS' CLAIM AGAINST THE KAPLANS IS BARRED BY \$440.11(1), FLA. STAT. (1981).

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, we will demonstrate that the district court ignored the plain meaning of the statute. That statute affords immunity to all employees--whether supervisory or not--who act in furtherance of the employer's business, unless such an employee--whether supervisory or not--has acted with gross negligence or recklessness. There is no ambiguity in this language. It draws no distinction between classes of employees, and thus clearly subjected the Kaplans to liability for their gross negligence without the need for resort to any principles of statutory construction.

Moreover, even assuming arguendo that the statute is ambiguous, it is clear that any such ambiguity must be resolved in favor of the Stanlicks' cause of action. We say this first because any ambiguity in the statute should be resolved against the infringement of pre-existing common-law rights, and there can be no question that at common law, a worker was entitled to sue a co-worker even for an act of simple negligence, and certainly for gross negligence, whether or not the defendant was a supervisory employee performing his employer's obligation to make the workplace safe, and whether or not the employer was also vicariously liable. The statute should not be construed to infringe upon that pre-existing common-law right.

Second, our interpretation of the 1978 amendment is consistent even with pre-1978 versions of the statute, as interpreted by the Florida courts. Under those interpreta-

tions, even a supervisory co-employee was liable for committing an act of gross negligence or recklessness, because such an act, by definition, was outside the scope of the employer's make-safe obligation. Thus, even if the 1978 amendment did not change the prior statute in this respect, the Stanlicks have stated a cause of action.

Third and finally, we will establish that regardless of any pre-existing versions of the statute, it is clear that the 1978 amendment permits the Stanlicks' action. The obvious purpose of that amendment was to create a uniform set of standards governing all co-employees---supervisory or not. It protects all employees whenever they are acting in furtherance of the employer's business--whether within or without make-safe rubric--but denying that protection when such employees--all such employees--act with gross negligence or recklessness. That is the manifest purpose of the new legislation, under which the Stanlicks clearly have stated a cause of action. The district court's conclusion to the contrary is wrong.

IV

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE STANLICKS' CLAIM AGAINST THE KAPLANS IS BARRED BY \$440.11(1), FLA. STAT. (1981).

We believe, and will demonstrate, that the language of the 1978 amendment clearly and unambiguously permits the Kaplans' action against the Stanlicks, without resorting to any of the rules of statutory construction. It is therefore unnecessary to consider the legislative history of the statute, the judicial interpretations of prior incarnations of the statute, or the extent to which the statute should be construed in light of its underlying purpose or its asserted abrogation of pre-existing common-law rights.

The 1978 amendment provided in relevant part as follows:

[T]he same immunities from liability enjoyed by an employer shall extend as well to each employee of the employer when such employee is acting in furtherance of the employer's business and the injured employee is entitled to receive benefits under this chapter. Such fellow-employee immunity shall not be applicable to an employee who acts, with respect to a fellow employee, with willful and wanton disregard or unprovoked physical aggression or with gross negligence when such acts result in injury

Regardless of any pre-existing interpretation of \$440.11(1), the 1978 amendment, by its plain language, provides that an employee is vicariously entitled to his employer's statutory immunity when he is "acting in furtherance of the employer's business," **unless** the defendant/employee has acted "with willful and wanton disregard or unprovoked physical aggression or with gross negligence" As the statute plainly says, "[**s**]**uch** fellow-employee immunity" (our emphasis)--that is, the very vicarious immunity which the statute has just provided--"shall not be applicable" in the case of "willful and wanton" conduct, or "gross negligence"

Of course, "[w]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157, 159 (1931).^{3/} The present statute says absolutely nothing to insulate fellow employees who happen to occupy supervisory jobs. To the contrary, it explicitly says that the employer's immunity will apply to "each" employee (our emphasis)--not to some but to each employee--but that "[s]uch fellow-employee immunity" (our emphasis)--that is, the immunity afforded "each" employee--does not apply in the case of wanton and willful conduct. A supervisory employee of a corporation is still an employee, and the 1978 amendment applies to "each employee." That language is clear and unambiguous. It requires no statutory construction. The district court therefore erred as a matter of law, and its

 $[\]frac{3}{}$ Accord, State v. Egan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) (and cases cited at footnote 4); Fidelity & Casualty Co. of New York v. Bedingfield, 60 So.2d 489, 495 (Fla. 1952) ("plain and unambiguous" amendment to workers' compensation immunity must be "construed within its four corners").

order should be reversed.

If the Court agrees with us about that, it need proceed no further. The entire remainder of this brief assumes arguendo that the statute is somehow ambiguous, and must be construed according to the principles of statutory construction. On that assumption, we must consider Florida law at three different points in time--at the time of the common-law rule; at the time of \$440.11(1), as interpreted by the courts, before the 1978 amendment; and at the purpose of the 1978 amendment in light of the pre-existing state of the Florida law.

A. The Common-Law Rule.

There can be no question that at common law, a fellow employee--whether highlevel or low level--was liable to a co-employee for even his simple negligence, and certainly of gross negligence, whether or not the employer was also vicariously liable. $\frac{4}{}$ As the Supreme Court said explicitly in *Frantz v. McBee Co.*, 77 So.2d 796, 798 (Fla. 1955)--in which the plaintiff's action was brought against "the agency manager in charge of [the defendant's] Jacksonville office," *id.* at 797: "There can be no doubt, that, at common law, servants mutually owed to each other the duty of exercising ordinary care in the performance of their service and were liable for a failure in that respect which resulted in injury to a fellow servant." Thus, the Supreme Court continued, only in those states which have abrogated the common law by adoption of workers' compensation statutes is it held "that an officer or agent of a corporation who is acting within the scope of his authority for and on behalf of the corporation and whose acts are such as to render the corporation liable, is entitled to the immunity given by the Act...." *Id*.

But as *Frantz* holds explicitly (because *Frantz* itself concerned a supervisory employee), there was no common-law immunity for **any** employees, whether supervisory

 $[\]frac{4}{1}$ We refer the Court to the Respondent's answer brief in Streeter, at pages 26-30 and 41-43.

or not. And as the U.S. Supreme Court held in Northern Pacific R. Co. v. Herbert, 116 U.S. 642, 6 S. Ct. 590, 29 L. Ed.2d 755, 759 (1886), the co-employee/defendant was individually liable even if his conduct had also subjected the employer to vicarious liability, because the co-employee/defendant, "in exercising the master's authority has violated the duty he owes as well to the [plaintiff] servant as to the corporation."⁵/ This common-law rule was consistent with the general principle that a corporate officer was individually liable for a tortious act injuring any third party, even if the corporation was also liable: "If ... a director or officer commits or participates in the commission of a tort, whether or not it is also by or for the corporation, he is liable to third persons injured thereby, and it does not matter what liability attaches to the corporation for the tort."⁶/

Thus in Wright v. McCord, 8 Div. 188, 88 So. 150, 151-53 (Ala. 1920), the employer's superintendent was liable to a co-employee for ordinary negligence in failing to provide a safe workplace even though the plaintiff already had settled with the employer, because of "the independent duty of the servant to so use such properties or agencies under his control as not to injure third parties, and irrespective of his relation to his principals."

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