IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 68,697

DONALD STREETER, individually, and EDWARD E. MELCHER, individually,

Petitioners,

vs.

MICHAEL SULLIVAN, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of Suzanne Sullivan, his deceased wife,

Respondent.

On Certified Question from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District

Respondent's Answer Brief

Talbot D'Alemberte

Judith M. Korchin Thomas R. Julin

Talbot D'Alemberte, P.A. 201 South Monroe Street Suite 200 Tallahassee, Florida 33201 (904) 222-4194

Steel Hector & Davis 4000 Southeast Financial Center Miami, Florida 33131-2398 (305) 577-2893

Counsel for Respondent Michael Sullivan

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

As was true of the supervisory employee's duty to all third persons at early common law,¹¹ he was held liable to fellow employees for his misfeasance but not for his nonfeasance.

(Footnote continued on next page)

-31-

^{11.} The distinction between nonfeasance and misfeasance was explained: "It is often said in the books that an agent is responsible to third persons for misfeasance only, and not for non-feasance. And it is doubtless true that if an agent never does anything towards carrying out his contract with his principal, but wholly omits or neglects to do so, the principal is the only person who can maintain any action against him for the non-feasance. But if the agent once actually undertakes and enters upon the execution of a particular work, it is his duty to use reasonable care in the manner of executing it, so as not

<u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Wright v. McCord</u>, 8 Div. 188, 88 So. 150 (S.Ct. Ala. 1920), <u>Givens v. Savona Mfg. Co. et al.</u>, 196 N.C. 377, 146 S.E. 681 (1928). However, this distinction between a supervisory employee's acts of commission and omission with regard to fellow employees was rapidly rejected by the American courts. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Smith</u>, 169 Miss. 447, 153 So. 376 (S.Ct. Miss. 1934).

Today, Florida courts apply the principle of law that "[a]n agent is liable to third persons for damages resulting from a violation of a duty which the agent owes to the third person, and it does not matter whether that violation is one of malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance. <u>Scott v. Sun Bank of</u> <u>Volusia County</u>, 408 So.2d 591 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). A corporate officer's liability to employees should be consistent with his duty to third persons in general;¹² there is no reason to

(Footnote continued from previous page)

to cause any injury to third persons which may be the natural consequence of his acts; and he cannot by abandoning its execution midway and leaving things in a dangerous condition, exempt himself from liability to any person who suffers injury by reason of his having so left them without proper safeguards. This is not non-feasance or doing nothing, but is misfeasance, doing improperly." Osborn v. Morgan, 130 Mass. 102, 39 Am.Rep. 437; Mechem, Law of Agency §1465 p. 1086-1087. Liability to third persons for misfeasance also arose when an agent neglected to keep in repair premises under his control where he was charged by his principal with the duty to repair and had the necessary means. The agent's control of the premises was a doing, a feasance, and his failure to properly control, a misfeasance. Mechem, Law of Agency §1474 p. 1093-1094.

12. Restatement (Second) of Agency §359 states: "The liability of a servant or other agent to a fellow servant or other agent employed by the employer is the same as to third persons."

maintain the anachronistic omission-commission distinction solely in the area of a supervisor's liability to employees.

III.

The "Affirmative Act" Rule Requires the Plaintiff to Prove Only Ordinary Personal Negligence

Relying on a handful of district court of appeal decisions, the defendants argue strenuously that the plaintiffs must show that the defendants committed an "affirmative act" of negligence which goes beyond the scope of the nondelegable duty of the employer to provide his employees with a safe place to work. This, they contend, the plaintiff cannot do in this case because the defendants' "duty, as all parties understood it, was to do a job for the corporation, within financial and other constraints imposed by it. To the extent that security was arguably inadequate, this was a corporate inadequacy, not one for which Mr. Streeter and Mr. Melcher can be deemed directly responsible." Petitioners' Brief at 14-15.

This argument is based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the so-called "affirmative act" rule. The rule merely precludes imposition of strict liability on a corporate officer. A plaintiff, under the rule, must establish, as in any other negligence action, that the defendant was personally rather than vicariously liable for the corporate employer's failings.

As explained herein, the gross negligence requirement of the 1978 amendment to the Workers' Compensation Law imposes a more difficult hurdle for the plaintiff to overcome than the "affirmative act" standard urged by the defendants. If a

-33-

plaintiff establishes gross negligence then he has proved circumstances which constitute a clear and present danger, that the defendant corporate officer was aware of the danger, and that the officer committed a conscious act or omission in the face of the danger, <u>see</u> Part I, <u>supra</u>. The complaint and the record before the trial court established that a jury could conclude the instant defendants acted grossly negligently in ignoring a direct threat to the life of Suzanne Sullivan.

The leading decision cited by the defendants in support of their "affirmative act" argument is <u>Kruse v. Schieve</u>, 61 Wis.2d 421, 213 N.W.2d 64 (Wis. 1973). In that case, a plaintiff employee who was injured when her left hand became caught in the rollers of a textile carding machine sued the "person in charge of production and control of the employment" for ordinary negligence. The plaintiff did not, however, allege facts to show that the defendant had personal knowledge of the danger the plaintiff faced, any direct control over the events which led to the injury, or any other personal involvement with the injury.

The <u>Kruse</u> court concluded that an action could be brought against a corporate officer for ordinary negligence, but that mere failure to supervise an employee properly and to provide a safe place to work -- duties owed to the employee by the corporate employer -- did not establish an ordinary negligence claim against the corporate officer. Thus, the court found that where a corporate officer personally directed an employee to operate a machine or operated a truck, then the officer could be held responsible, as a co-employee, for any

-34-

resulting injuries because his involvement in the injury causing events was sufficiently direct.

The distinction which the <u>Kruse</u> case makes between an officer acting in his corporate capacity and acting in his capacity as a co-employee is only a distinction based upon his personal involvement with the events which led to the injury. If the corporate officer is directly involved -- he has his hands on the wheel of the car or he directs the plaintiff how to use a machine -- he is deemed to be acting as a co-employee. If he has no direct personal involvement, he is deemed to be acting in his corporate capacity.¹³

^{13.} Subsequent Wisconsin Supreme Court decisions such as Laffin v. Chemical Supply Co., 77 Wis.2d 353, 253 N.W.2d 51 (Wis. 1977), not discussed in the petitioners' brief, are consistent with Kruse in endorsing the view that corporate officers may be sued for ordinary acts of negligence in failing to provide a safe place to work, but that there is no strict liability against the officer where the work place is unsafe. In this case, the Wisconsin Court again observed that "liability of the corporate officers arises from a breach of duty owed to the employee and must rest upon the common-law failure to exercise ordinary care." Id. at 53. In disallowing the action against the individuals in this case, the court emphasized that "At the time of the accident [defendant] Arthur Flashinski was not on the premises -- he was on vacation. [Defendant] Laurence Niederhofer was in the building but was unaware of the problem with the PVC valve and had no direct contact with [plaintiff] Id. at 52. The court commented that "If an officer or Laffin." supervisor breaches a personal duty, it does not offend the policy of the Worker's Compensation Act to permit recovery from the officer or supervisor." Id. at 53-54. In analyzing prior Wisconsin cases, including the Kruse decision, the Laffin court pointed out that it is "direct involvement beyond the typical duty of a corporate president that created the duty owed to the employee." According to Laffin, it is "clear, however, that common-law standards of negligence would apply to an officer or supervisor acting as a co-employee." See also Lupovici v. Hunzinger Construction Co., 79 Wis.2d 491, 255 N.W.2d 590 (Wis. 1977) (no liability against officer unless plaintiff could allege negligence other than corporation's failure to provide safe work place).

The underlying rationale of <u>Kruse</u> is that a corporate officer should not be subject to the same type of strict liability as the safe place to work statutes impose on the employer. Characterization of the rule as an "affirmative act" rule is a misnomer because it requires only that the plaintiff demonstrate the defendant is guilty of personal negligence.

A number of other state court decisions have expressly recognized that a fellow employee may prevail in a negligence action notwithstanding that the only evidence he can offer shows that the defendant personally failed to act to provide a safe place to work. For example, in <u>Miller v. Muscarelle</u>, 67 N.J. Super. 305, 170 A.2d 437 (N.J. 1961), the New Jersey Supreme explained: "[M]any employment functions, <u>e.g.</u>, those of a safety inspector, are of such nature that they are usually incapable of misperformance otherwise than by nonperformance. At the same time such nonperformance may quite foreseeably subject other employees to the risk of harm resulting therefrom, thereby implicating a tort duty to avoid such nonperformance, under well settled modern doctrine. Id. at 449.

Similarly, in <u>Canter v. Koehring Co.</u>, 283 So.2d 716, 721 (La. 1973), the Louisiana Supreme Court held liability could be imposed on an officer-employee for injury he causes to a fellow employee in the work place when:

- 1. The employer owes a duty of care to the co-employee, breach of which has caused the damage for which recovery is sought.
- 2. The duty is delegated by the employer to the officer-employee who is the defendant.

-36-

- 3. The defendant officer-employee has breached his duty through personal (as contrasted with technical or vicarious) fault. The breach occurs when the defendant has failed to discharge the obligation with the degree of care required by ordinary prudence under the same or similar circumstances whether such failure be due to malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance, including when the failure results from not acting upon actual knowledge of risk to others.
- 4. With regard to personal fault, if the defendant's general responsibility has been delegated with due care to some responsible subordinate he is not personally at fault for the negligent performance of this responsibility <u>unless</u> he personally knows or personally should know of its non-performance, or mal-performance and has nevertheless failed to cure the risk of harm.

See also Craven v. Oggero, 213 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 1973); <u>Herbert v. Layman</u>, 125 Vt. 481, 218 A.2d 706 (1966). All of these cases recognize that modern tort law no longer requires the finding of an "affirmative act" of negligence.

In at least one of the states which has accepted this line of reasoning, Iowa, the legislature has adopted a worker's compensation law which, in pertinent part, is substantively identical to the Florida statute. It provides that the employer's immunity would extend to employees "provided that such injury or occupational disease . . . is not caused by the other employee's gross negligence amounting to such lack of care as to amount to wanton neglect for the safety of another." Section 85.20, Iowa Code.

In <u>Taylor v. Peck</u>, 382 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 1986), the Supreme Court of Iowa examined the statute as applied in a

-37-

negligence action by an injured employee against the vice president of the corporate employer and the general manager of the plant in which the employee was injured. The Iowa Court concluded that only these three factors were necessary to establish the supervisory employee's liability:

- (1) knowledge of the peril to be apprehended;
- (2) knowledge that injury is a probable, as opposed to a possible, result of the danger; and
- (3) a conscious failure to avoid the peril.

<u>Id.</u> at 126.

The court found no need to determine whether there was some other "affirmative act" in order to establish liability, the Iowa Legislature, like the Florida Legislature, having expressly stated that employees could be sued for acts of gross negligence. <u>See also Thompson v. Bohlken</u>, 312 N.W.2d 501 (Iowa 1981); <u>Larson</u> v. <u>Massey-Ferguson</u>, Inc., 328 N.W.2d 343 (Iowa App. 1982).

The Florida district court of appeal decisions which are said by the defendants to have adopted the reasoning in these Wisconsin cases¹⁴ are consistent in holding that a showing of

^{14. &}lt;u>McDaniel v. Sheffield</u>, 431 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Clark v. Better Const. Co., Inc.</u>, 420 So.2d 929 (Fla.3d DCA 1982), <u>Dessert v. Electric Mutual Liability Insurance Co.</u>, 392 So.2d 340 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); <u>West v. Jessop</u>, 339 So.2d 1136, 1137 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). Of these cases, only the first, <u>West</u>, was decided prior to the 1978 amendment to section 440.11(1), Florida Statutes. The petitioners' argument at page 20-21 of their brief that the statute must be read as incorporating "controlling law" is of little force because only the Second District Court of Appeal had adopted the "affirmative act" rule at the time that the statute was enacted. The rule had not been accepted by any of the four other district courts of appeal at the time of the 1978 amendment.

ordinary negligence in failing to provide a safe place to work is all that is necessary to establish liability against a corporate officer and that a corporate officer is not held strictly liable when there is lack of safety in the work place.

The first case to rely upon a Wisconsin decision, <u>West v. Jessop</u>, 339 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), most dramatically illustrates this point because there the Second District concluded that liability could be imposed on the corporate officer for committing an ordinary act of negligence. The defendant in that case had not simply failed to perform some task which the employer was required by statute to perform. He had personally and directly caused an injury to the plaintiff by wrenching her head. Nothing in the case suggests that if the officer had personally caused injury by failing to perform a duty to keep the workplace safe for fellow employees in the face of an obvious danger, that he would not have been held liable.

In Zurich Insurance Company v. Scofi, 366 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), an employee sued a supervisor for injuries he received when a trench caved in. The employee claimed the supervisor had been negligent solely because the corporate employer violated state safety rules. The employee did not claim that the defendant had any direct, personal involvement in the cave in and therefore the court of appeal directed a verdict for the defendant. The <u>Zurich</u> decision thus does not recognize any broad immunity for supervisory employees, but simply followed the rule that ordinary negligence on the part of the

-39-

supervisor is not established merely by showing that a corporation did not follow state imposed safety guidelines.

At page 22 of the petitioners' brief they assert that "The Fourth District made no attempt to reconcile its construction of the statute with the First District's clearly contrary construction in <u>Cliffin v. State Department of Health</u> <u>and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 458 So.2d 29 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)." The Fourth District's opinion is in no way contrary to <u>Cliffin</u>. In that case, an employee of the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center was attacked, murdered, and sexually assaulted by a resident of the Mentally Disordered Sex Offender Unit. The plaintiff sued the state, the administrator of the NFETC and the District Administrator of the HRS where the NFETC were located.

The court of appeal first held that the action was barred by the statute of limitations and, as an alternative holding, that summary judgment for the individual defendants must be affirmed "due to the failure of the complaint to allege affirmative acts of negligence going beyond the scope of the employer's nondelegable duty." The court of appeal explained: "Although the concept is subject to interpretation and may, in a particular case, involve questions of fact for the jury, no material issues of fact were presented here which would preclude entry of summary judgment on this ground." Id.

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